Aus der Medizinischen Klinik und Poliklinik I des Klinikums der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München Direktor: Professor Dr. med. Steffen Massberg

Proarrhythmic atrial remodeling mechanisms leading to arrhythmias

Mechanismen des zu Rhythmusstörungen führenden proarrhythmogenen atrialen Remodelings

Kumulative Habilitationsschrift zur Erlangung der Venia Legendi für das Fach Innere Medizin und Kardiologie der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

vorgelegt von Dr. med. Sebastian Thomas Wolfgang Clauß

Table of contents

Publications summarized within this work	
Introduction	4
MicroRNA mediated atrial remodeling	7
Macrophage mediated atrial remodeling	14
Summary and future perspectives	23
List of Abbreviations	
References	29
Acknowledgments	
Curriculum vitae	35
Publication List	
Teaching activities	43
Appendix	

Publications summarized within this work

- 1. Dawson K., Wakili R., Ordög B., **Clauss S.**, Chen Y., Iwasaki Y., Voigt N., Qi XY., Sinner MF., Dobrev D., Kääb S., Nattel S. MicroRNA29: a mechanistic contributor and potential biomarker in atrial fibrillation. Circulation. 2013 Apr 9;127(14):1466-75, 1475e1-28.
- Glinge C.*, Clauss S.*, Boddum K., Jabbari R., Jabbari J., Risgaard B., Tomsits P., Hildebrand B., Kääb S., Wakili R., Jespersen t., Tfelt-Hansen J. Stability of circulating blood-based microRNAs – Pre-analytic methodological considerations. PLoS One. 2017 Feb 2;12(2):e0167969.
- Hoffmann S., Clauss S., Berger I., Weiß B., Montalbano A., Röth R., Bucher M., Klier I., Wakili R., Günther S., Bagaev E., Seitz H., Schulze-Bahr E., Katus H., Flachsbart F., Nebel A., Rottbauer W., Kääb S., Just S., Rappold G., Coding and non-coding variants in the SHOX2 gene in patients with atrial fibrillation. Basic Res Cardiol. 2016 May;111(3):36. doi: 10.1007/s00395-016-0557-2.
- Clauss S., Wakili R., Hildebrand B., Kääb S., Hoster E., Klier I., Martens E., Hanley A., Hanssen H., Halle M., Nickel T. MicroRNAs as Biomarkers for Acute Atrial Remodeling in Marathon Runners (The miRathon Study - A Sub-Study of the Munich Marathon Study). PLoS One. 2016 Feb 9;11(2):e0148599.
- Lackermair K.*, Clauss S.*, Voigt T., Klier I., Summo C., Hildebrand B., Nickel T., Estner HL., Kääb S., Wakili R., Wilbert-Lampen U. Alteration of Endothelin 1, MCP-1 and Chromogranin A in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing pulmonary vein isolation. PLoS One. 2017 Sep 8;12(9):e0184337.
- Hulsmans M.*, Clauss S.*, Xiao L.*, Aguirre AD., King KR., Hanley A., Hucker WJ., Wülfers EM., Seemann G., Courties G., Iwamoto Y., Sun Y., Savol AJ., Sager HB., Lavine KJ., Fishbein GA., Capen DE., Da Silva N., Miquerol L., Wakimoto H., Seidman CE., Seidman JG., Sadreyev RI., Naxerova K., Mitchell RN., Brown D., Libby P., Weissleder R., Swirski FK., Kohl P., Vinegoni C., Milan DJ., Ellinor PT., Nahrendorf M. Macrophages Facilitate Electrical Conduction in the Heart. Cell. 2017;169(3):510-522.
- Clauss S.*, Schüttler D.*, Bleyer C., Vlcek J., Shakarami M., Tomsits P., Schneider S., Maderspacher F., Chataut K., Trebo A., Wang C., Kleeberger J., Xia R., Baloch E., Hildebrand B., Massberg S., Wakili R., Kääb S. Characterization of a porcine model of atrial arrhythmogenicity in the context of ischaemic heart failure. PLoS One. 2020 May 4;15(5):e0232374.

Introduction

Epidemiology of Arrhythmias

Arrhythmias are one of the major healthcare challenges since they are very common affecting millions of Europeans¹⁻⁴ and are associated with significant morbidity and mortality since they are the main cause for sudden cardiac death^{5, 6}.

Various arrhythmias exist, ranging from less harmful premature extra beats to life-threatening heart block, from inherited preexcitation syndromes in children to acquired post-infarction ventricular fibrillation in aged patients, and from rare familial arrhythmia syndromes to the most common arrhythmia, atrial fibrillation (AF). Epidemiology data demonstrate an overall prevalence of arrhythmias of 3,4% (ranging from 1,4% in patients younger than 18 years to 10,1% in patients older than 75 years)⁵. Thus, arrhythmias affect many patients at all ages with or without concomitant heart disease and represent a major public health burden. Arrhythmias are the main reason for sudden cardiac death that account for 25% of all deaths⁷⁻¹⁰ and are associated with significant morbidity such as a five-fold increased stroke risk, a doubling in dementia risk, and a tripling in heart failure risk^{2, 6}. Improved treatment options in cardiology such as coronary interventions in patients with myocardial infarction or implantable defibrillators in patients with heart failure have led to survival of previously fatal diseases but have also led to increased numbers of acquired arrhythmias. Thus, the overall incidence of arrhythmias is rising and accounts for an increasing proportion of hospitalizations and healthcare costs¹¹⁻¹³.

Current treatment options

Therapy depends on the specific arrhythmia and includes drug therapy, catheter ablation, device implantation as well as treatment of concomitant diseases^{5, 14}. Pharmacotherapy using betablockers or antiarrhythmic drugs such as ion channel blockers are used to control heart rate, to suppress premature extra beats, to slow down electrical conduction through the AV node in case of atrial tachycardias, to convert arrhythmias to sinus rhythm, or to stabilize sinus rhythm¹⁵⁻¹⁹. Oral anticoagulation is further necessary to prevent thromboembolic events such as strokes in AF^{20, 21}. In recent years, interventional catheter-based therapies were developed^{22, 23}. Ablation of accessory muscle bundles can cure several forms of re-entrant tachycardias^{24, 25}, pulmonary vein isolation (PVI)^{22, 23} became a standard treatment for AF, and ablation of ventricular tachycardia is performed to prevent life-threatening arrhythmias^{26, 27}. More than 50 years ago cardiac pacemakers were developed that allowed to treat lifethreatening bradycardia such as sinus arrest. Furthermore, implantable cardioverterdefibrillators (ICD) have been developed to terminate ventricular tachyarrhythmias. This is of special interest for patients with increased risk for lethal arrhythmias, e.g. patients with arrhythmia syndromes such as Long QT Syndrome and for patients with reduced left ventricular function after myocardial infarction. In those patients ICD implantation has been demonstrated to allow prevention of sudden cardiac death^{28, 29}.

Those innovative treatment options have substantially improved survival but remain ineffective in a number of patients, remain largely symptomatic therapies without targeting the causal factors and are associated with numerous complications^{30, 31} and side effects³². Preventing tachyarrhythmias with betablockers might result in bradycardia and syncope, oral anticoagulants for stroke prevention might result in major bleedings³², and implanted devices might cause lead infection, heart failure due to permanent ventricular stimulation, or

repetitive hospitalisations due to inadequate ICD therapies^{33, 34}. Therefore, current treatment options have to be improved by innovative therapies that are ideally targeting causal proarrhythmic mechanisms.

Arrhythmia Mechanisms

The pathophysiologic basis of arrhythmias is complex (Fig.1) and still incompletely understood but similarities of fundamental mechanisms between different forms of arrhythmias have been identified³⁵⁻³⁷. In general, arrhythmias occur either due to impaired impulse formation and/or impulse propagation. Physiologically, generation and propagation of electrical impulses in the heart is achieved by a characteristic sequence of voltage changes implemented by depolarizing and repolarizing ion currents. The normal resting membrane potential of cardiomyocytes is around -80 mV. An electrical impulse causes a depolarization by rapidly activated sodium channels with following influx of sodium ions. Subsequently, potassium channels open initiating the repolarization of the cell (re-establishing the resting membrane potential again). Simultaneously, calcium ions enter the cell leading to cell contraction (excitation-contraction-coupling) and slowing of the repolarization.

In the healthy heart, the sinus node expresses specific ion channels (funny channels) that are responsible for the so-called automaticity (i.e. the progressive diastolic depolarization) and dominates the impulse generation. An upregulation of these ion channels, as seen in heart failure, could be a possible mechanism leading to enhanced automaticity³⁸. Furthermore, it is possible that a cell outside the sinus node reaches the threshold potential earlier resulting in ectopic firing at a more rapid rate potentially leading to atrial tachycardia. In this regard, alterations of the cellular calcium homeostasis may play an important role as it has been demonstrated in animal models and patients³⁷. Physiologically, cellular calcium is removed by the Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) and the Na⁺-Ca²⁺-exchanger (NCX) during diastole to re-establish ionic homeostasis at the end of the cardiac cycle. During atrial tachycardia, however, calcium is progressively accumulated in the cell because of repetitive activation of the L-Type Ca²⁺ channel resulting in a calcium overload that in turn leads to multiple maladaptive changes such as impairment of the ryanodine receptor (calcium release channel in the sarcoplasmatic reticulum) with subsequent calcium leak from the sarcoplasmatic reticulum and activation of NCX causing a depolarizing current leading to so-called delayed afterdepolarizations (DAD). This leads to a progressive depolarization of the cell and ectopic firing (when the threshold potential is reached; so-called triggered activity)^{36, 39, 40}. Early afterdepolarizations (EAD) occur when the action potential duration (APD) is excessively prolonged, for example in the context of arrhythmia syndromes such as Long QT syndrome^{41, 42}.

Another hallmark in arrhythmogenesis is reentry that can occur when altered electrical properties cause a shortening of the refractory period or conduction slowing and when structural changes (e.g. fibrosis) establish an anatomical substrate³⁷. In the healthy heart, reentry cannot occur because cardiomyocytes display a certain refractory period that prevents premature stimuli to conduct. When the refractory period is shortened, however, the cell is excitable earlier, ectopic activity can be conducted, and reentry can be initiated. Additionally, slowed conduction velocity can also allow reentry because cells are excitable again when the impulse arrives. Structural changes as dilatation and fibrosis extend conduction pathways, slow conduction, and create conduction barriers favoring initiation and maintenance of reentry circuits⁴³.

Besides these fundamental mechanisms several other factors may lead to arrhythmias, all of them are summarized under the term "**proarrhythmic atrial remodeling**" with mechanisms leading to altered ion currents (e.g. enhanced automaticity) categorized as "electrical remodeling" and mechanisms leading to anatomic changes (e.g. atrial fibrosis) categorized as "structural remodeling" (Fig.1).

Interestingly, some of the electro-anatomical changes implicated in arrhythmia pathophysiology initially act as a protective mechanism of the cell, but finally result in a fixed substrate for arrhythmia maintenance. For example, atrial tachycardia (as seen in AF) causes a cellular calcium overload. In order to reduce the calcium influx and to antagonize the calcium overload the calcium current is reduced (by inactivation of calcium channels (short-term effect) and reduced gene expression of the calcium channels (long-term effects)) leading to a shortening of the action potential. This favors reentry and therefore contributes to AF maintenance ("AF begets AF")⁴⁴.

Figure 1. Proarrhythmic remodeling mechanisms underlying atrial fibrillation (AF)⁵¹. *TGFb*, Transforming Growth Factor-b, *CTGF*, Connective Tissue Growth Factor; *PTEN*, Phosphatase and Tensin homolog; *MMP2*, Matrix Metalloproteinase 2; *TRPC3*, Transient Receptor Potential Channel 3; *ECM*, Extracellular Matrix; *Cx*, Connexin; *RYR2*, Ryanodine Receptor Type 2; *SR*, Sarcoplasmatic Reticulum; *DAD*, Delayed Afterdepolarisation; *APD*, Action Potential Duration; *SK3*, small-conductance calcium-activated potassium channel.

MicroRNA mediated atrial remodeling

In 1993 microRNAs (miRNAs) have been discovered as important developmental mediators in Caenorhabditis elegans as they regulate gene expression^{45, 46}. Since then, thousands of miRNAs, which are short (i.e. 20-22 base pairs), single-stranded, non-coding RNA fragments, have been identified in other animals and plants playing key roles in various physiologic and pathophysiologic conditions. MiRNA binding to the 3' untranslated region (3' UTR) of a target mRNA results in post-transcriptional inhibition of gene expression by repression of the translation or the degradation of the target mRNA^{47, 48}. Thus, miRNAs can both cause downregulation of genes (by direct binding to target mRNAs) but also (indirect) upregulation of genes (by binding and downregulation of intrinsic inhibitors of these genes). Since miRNAs can bind to various target genes and one gene can be targeted by various miRNAs a complex regulatory network with up- and downregulation of agonists and antagonists at the same time is established leading to the concept of miRNAs as "fine tuners" of gene expression⁴⁹. Over the last years, several miRNAs have been demonstrated as key regulators in cardiac development and cardiovascular disease leading to a growing number of studies evaluating the role of miRNAs in proarrhythmic remodeling as well^{37, 50}. By targeting genes encoding ion channels, connexins, or calcium handling-related proteins miRNAs such as miR-1, -26, -106b-25, -133, -208, -328, or -499 are mediating electrical remodeling whereas miR-21, -26, -29b, -30, -499, -590 are mediating structural remodeling by regulating extracellular matrix turnover and profibrotic signaling⁵¹.

In a canine ventricular tachypacing model (VTP, 240 bpm) that has previously established as model for AF in the context of congestive heart failure^{52, 53}, we studied the role of miR-29b in regulating proarrhythmic remodeling⁵⁴. Already 24 hours after initiation of VTP miR-29b was significantly downregulated (Fig.2A) abolishing its inhibitory effects on the expression of several extracellular matrix genes such as collagens (COL1A1, COL3A1) and fibrillin (FBN1) that were upregulated 2 weeks later (Fig.2D-F) when significant atrial fibrosis and increased vulnerability for AF were also present (Fig.2B-C). To confirm the causal effects of miR-29b on matrix gene expression we isolated fibroblasts from the left atrium and infected these cells with a lentivirus containing the miR-29b precursor sequence or a complementary target sequence (a so-called miR-sponge) to induce a miR-29b overexpression or knockdown, respectively. Upregulation of miR-29b in these cells resulted in significantly reduced expression of COL1A1, COL3A1, and FBN1 whereas a downregulation of miR-29b showed the opposite effect (Fig.2G-H). In sum, these data suggest a causal role for miR-29b in regulating extracellular matrix expression and structural remodeling in the atrium.

Copyright protected

In a next step we studied the expression of miR-29b in human heart tissue obtained from patients who underwent cardiac surgery. We could show that the expression of miR-29b in the atrium of patients with AF was significantly reduced compared to patients without AF (Fig.3A)⁵⁴.

Figure 2. Evaluation of miR-29b as mediator of proarrhythmic remodeling⁵⁴. **A**. Atrial expression of miR-29b in a dog model for AF. **B**. Duration of induced AF. **C**. Interstitial fibrosis. **D**. Expression of collagen 1 alpha 1 (COL1A1) in fibroblasts isolated from canine atria. **E**. Expression of collagen 3 alpha 1 (COL3A1) in fibroblasts isolated from canine atria. **F**. Expression of fibrillin 1 (FBN1) in fibroblasts isolated from canine atria. **G**. Expression of miR-29b and its target genes in cells infected with a control virus (white bars) and a miR-29b sponge (blue bars). **H**. Expression of miR-29b over-expressing virus (red bars). Data are presented as MEAN±SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p < 0.001. *AF*, atrial fibrillation, *a.u.*, arbitrary units, *CTL*, control, *COL1A1*, collagen 1 alpha 1, *COL3A1*, collagen 3 alpha 1, *FBN1*, fibrillin 1, *hr*, hour, *miR*, microRNA, *VTP*, ventricular tachypacing.



expression of miR-29b in human patients without arrhythmia, with paroxysmal AF, with chronic AF. B. Plasma expression of circulating miR-29b in healthy controls without AF or heart failure, in patients with AF, in patients with heart failure, and in patients with both AF and heart failure. Data are presented as MEAN±SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p < 0.001. *AF*, atrial fibrillation, *a.u.*, arbitrary units, *CTL*, control, *CHF*, congestive heart failure, *miR*, microRNA, *w*, with, *w*/o, without.

The extent of atrial fibrosis is associated with the outcome after AF therapy, but measurement of atrial fibrosis in vivo remains challenging since the gold standard for fibrosis quantification is still histology which requires the staining of tissue samples obtained from the individual patient^{55, 56}. Innovative attempts using MRI scans are promising but still experimental and not available in clinical routine. Since miRNAs such as miR-29b regulate structural remodeling and are expressed in the human heart as well (Fig.3A), we studied the expression of miRNAs in human blood samples to evaluate their role as potential biomarkers for atrial fibrosis. However, it was not known how blood samples have to be processed to allow reliable measurement of miRNAs. To test this and to establish preanalytical quality criteria we measured miR-21 and miR-1 expression in blood samples under various conditions⁵⁷. We collected blood samples in different collection tubes containing ETDA, heparin or serum separator, processed samples immediately to plasma/serum, isolated RNA and measured miRNA levels. We could show that miRNA measurement can be achieved from blood samples collected both in EDTA plasma and serum tubes whereas miRNAs were undetectable upon contact to heparin (Fig.4A). We then applied repetitive freeze-thaw cycles to plasma and serum samples and observed a decrease in miR-21 both in plasma (Δ CT values: 5.59±0.19 vs. 6.38±0.21, p<0.05) and serum (△CT values: 4.45±0.75 vs. 8.74±0.88, p<0.01) and a decrease in miR-1 levels in plasma (Δ CT values: 15.57±0.69 vs. 16.31±0.62, p<0.05) after 4 freeze-thaw cycles (Fig.4B-C). In daily practice it might not be possible to immediately process blood samples, thus, we mimicked this situation by incubating the samples at room temperature for 24 hours and 4 days before (full blood samples) and after processing (plasma/serum samples). In full blood samples collected into EDTA containing tubes miRNAs were stable for after 4 days whereas in serum separator containing tubes miR-21 levels were significantly reduced after 4 days (Δ CT values: 4.5±0.75 vs. 8.5±0.64, p<0.01, Fig.4D-E). In processed plasma/serum samples, however, both miR-21 (Δ CT values in plasma: 5.60±0.19 vs. 7.65±0.68, p<0.05; Δ CT values in serum: 4.45±0.75 vs. 7.97±0.65, p<0.01) and miR-1 (△CT values in plasma: 15.6±0.69 vs. 18.7 \pm 0.83, p<0.001; Δ CT values in serum: 15.72 \pm 1.02 vs. 18.29 \pm 0.40, p<0.05) were significantly reduced already after 24 hours (Fig.4F-G). To evaluate the effect of physical disturbance that may occur during sample transport we placed samples before (full blood) and after processing (plasma/serum) on a shaker for one and eight hours. We showed that one hour of shaking did not affect miRNA levels in any of the sample types, after eight hours of shaking, however, miR-1 levels in full blood collected in serum tubes (15.72±1.02 vs. 17.50±0.31, p<0.05) and in plasma (15.57±0.69 vs. 18.77±0.81, p<0.01) as well as miR-21 levels in plasma (5.59±0.19 vs. 7.20±0.40, p<0.01) were significantly increased (Fig.4H-K).



Figure 4. Measurement of miRNAs in patient blood under various conditions⁵⁷. **A.** Impact of different blood collection tubes. Impact of repetitive freeze-thaw cycles using plasma (B) and serum samples (C). Impact of delayed processing on full blood collected in EDTA plasma tubes (D), full blood collected in serum tubes (E), processed plasma samples (F), processed serum samples (G). Impact of physical disturbance on full blood collected in EDTA plasma tubes (I), processed plasma samples (FJ), processed serum samples (G). Impact of physical disturbance on full blood collected in EDTA plasma tubes (I), processed plasma samples (FJ), processed serum samples (K). Δ CT values presented as MEAN±SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p < 0.001. *d*, days, *h*, hour(s), *miR*, microRNA, *ND*, not detected.

According to these preanalytical considerations we measured the expression of miR-29b in human plasma samples (Fig.3B)⁵⁴. We could show that miR-29b is significantly reduced in plasma obtained from patients with AF (8.96 ± 2.67 vs. 19.54 ± 1.97 , p<0.001), from patients with heart failure without AF (5.82 ± 0.88 vs. 19.54 ± 1.97 , p<0.001) and from patients with AF and concomitant heart failure (10.03 ± 1.25 vs. 19.54 ± 1.97 , p<0.001) compared to patients without heart disease. A multivariate regression analysis showed that miR-29b plasma levels remained significantly reduced in all groups after adjusting for age, sex, cardiovascular risk factors (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, hypercholesterolemia), concomitant coronary artery disease, or drug treatment (treatment with ACE inhibitors/AT1 blockers, aldosterone antagonists, statins) suggesting a potential role for circulating miR-29b as biomarker for proarrhythmic remodeling.

Heart diseases such as congestive heart failure are an important predisposing factor for arrhythmias as they induce proarrhythmic remodeling⁵⁸. However, even without underlying heart diseases arrhythmias can occur⁵⁹⁻⁶¹. In recent years, a growing body of evidence suggests that genetics may be an important factor responsible for developing arrhythmias⁶²⁻⁶⁵. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) revealed significant associations between genetic variants and an increased risk for AF^{66, 67} and other arrhythmias⁶⁸⁻⁷¹. However, the underlying mechanisms how these variants may cause arrhythmias are unknown in most cases especially since these risk variants are often located in "genomic deserts" without any known gene. To further evaluate if altered miRNA signaling could be the mechanistic link to genetically increased AF risk we studied the gene SHOX2, a transcription factor with an essential role in cardiac development, especially of the sinus node⁷². Since sinus node dysfunction is associated with AF⁷³, SHOX2 is a plausible candidate gene to study genetic susceptibility. We measured expression of SHOX2 in right atrial tissue and could show that SHOX2 expression is significantly reduced in patients with AF compared to patients in sinus rhythm (Fig.5A). We then performed SHOX2 sequencing in 378 patients with early-onset AF (i.e. before the age of 60 years) and identified a genetic variant within the 3' untranslated region of the SHOX2 gene (c.*28T>C) that was significantly associated with AF (p<0.01). AF Patients with this genetic variant show a prolonged PR interval during sinus rhythm which is a surrogate parameter for altered atrial conduction properties indicating a functional effect of this genetic variant (Fig.5B). Since miRNAs regulate gene expression by binding to target sequences in non-coding regions we hypothesized that this variant generates a novel miRNA binding site and thus affects arrhythmogenesis. Indeed, we could demonstrate that this genetic variant cause a novel binding site for miR-92b-5p which may explain the reduced SHOX2 expression in the atria of AF patients. This is further supported by the finding that miR-92b-5p plasma levels were similar in patients with or without AF (Fig.5C) but were significantly reduced in patients carrying the variant (Fig.5D) suggesting a miR-92b-5p enrichment in the heart in patients carrying the genetic variant. In sum, our data suggest that miRNA-mediated remodeling may be the functional link between an increased genetic risk and arrhythmias.



site⁷². **A**. Atrial expression of Shox2 in patients with and without AF. **B**. PR interval during sinus rhythm in patients with and without the genetic variant. **C**. Plasma expression of circulating miR-92b-5p in healthy controls without AF and in patients with AF. **D**. Plasma expression of circulating miR-92b-5p in AF patients with and without the genetic variant. Data are presented as MEAN±SEM. * p<0.05, *** p < 0.001. *AF*, atrial fibrillation, *miRNA*, microRNA, *SNP*, single nucleotide polymorphism, *w*, with, *w/o*, without.

An individual's lifestyle is – besides genetic factors – an important risk factor for the development of arrhythmias, especially in otherwise healthy people such as athletes⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶. The underlying mechanisms however, are incompletely understood but miRNA-mediated remodeling may play an important role⁷⁷. To study the potential effects of miRNAs in athletes we measured circulating miRNAs in healthy people participating in a marathon⁷⁸. We recruited 15 runners who performed intense physical training throughout the year ("elite runners") and 15 runners who performed only seasonal training ("non-elite runners"). We collected blood at different time points (before and after a 10 week training period before the marathon, immediately and 24 hours after the marathon) and correlated miRNA expression levels with echocardiographic parameters for remodeling. We focused on 5 miRNAs that have previously been demonstrated as mediators of cardiac remodeling⁵¹: miR-1, miR-133a, miR-30a, miR-26a, and miR-29b. In both groups, expression of all 5 miRNAs was similar over time (Fig.6A-E). After the marathon miR-1, miR-133a and miR-30a increased (significant increases of miR-30a in both groups and miR-1/-133a in elite runners) whereas miR-26a and miR-29b decreased (significant decrease of miR-26a in elite runners). In non-elite runners we could not identify correlations between miRNA levels and echocardiographic parameters, while in elite runners miR-1 (r=-0.6897, p<0.01) and miR-133a r=-0.7090, p<0.01) plasma levels significantly correlated with LA diameter, a surrogate parameter for structural remodeling (Fig. 6F-G). In our study, alterations in miRNA plasma levels are pronounced and correlate with LA diameter only in elite runners with regular and more intense training suggesting that i) miRNAs might be involved in proarrhythmic remodeling in athletes, and ii) that circulating miRNAs could serve as potential biomarkers for atrial remodeling.



Figure 6. MicroRNAs in marathon runners⁷⁸. Plasma expression of miR-1 (**A**), miR-133a (**B**), miR-30a (**C**), miR-26a (**D**), miR-29b (**E**) at 4 time points. V1, at the beginning of a 10 week training program before the marathan, V2, at the end of the training program, V3, immediately after the marathon, V4, 24 hours after the marathon. Correlation between LA diameter and miRNA plasma levels for miR-1 (**F**) and miR-133a (**G**) at V3. Data are presented as MEAN \pm SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 vs. V1, # p<0.05, ## p<0.01, ### p<0.001 vs. V2, † p<0.05, †† p<0.01, ††† p<0.001 vs. V4. *LA*, left atrium, *miRNA*, microRNA.

Macrophage mediated atrial remodeling

Macrophages are important cells of the innate immune system which identify and eliminate pathogens by phagocytosis and release cytokines and chemokines to recruit further immune cells to the site of inflammation⁷⁹. Besides their role in host defense against infectious pathogens macrophages have also been demonstrated to play important regulatory roles in the context of sterile inflammation as seen in many chronic diseases such as diabetes mellitus⁸⁰⁻⁸³.

Diabetes mellitus is associated with an increased risk for arrhythmias, but the underlying mechanisms are unknown so far⁸⁴⁻⁸⁷. Recently, a study using a mouse model of diabetes suggests an inflammatory mechanism and a role for macrophages⁸⁸. In this model macrophages are recruited to the heart where they release the cytokine IL-1 β which mediates an electrical remodeling resulting in reduced potassium currents, altered calcium homeostasis, prolonged QT interval and action potential duration, and increased susceptibility for arrhythmias.

Recent studies suggest that inflammatory mechanisms are also involved in the pathophysiology of arrhythmias such as AF even in the absence of overt chronic inflammatory diseases^{89, 90}. We hypothesized that macrophages are involved in the pathogenesis of AF but due to the very limited availability of human heart tissue samples it was not possible to directly study macrophages in the heart of patients with AF. Thus, we studied the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) that has been demonstrated to attract macrophages to the site of an inflammation^{82, 91}. Thus, we measured MCP-1 in the blood of patients with AF as an indirect marker for macrophage recruitment⁹². We measured MCP-1 plasma levels in 96 patients with AF and in 40 patients without AF and observed significantly elevated levels of MCP-1 in AF patients (268 pg/ml vs. 227 pg/ml; p=0.03; Fig.7A). Since the patient cohort was adjusted for age, sex, type of AF, cardiovascular risk factors, echocardiographic parameters, as well as concomitant coronary artery disease, renal failure or antiarrhythmic drug therapy, an elevated MCP-1 plasma level indicates a pro-inflammatory condition in AF. To study whether MCP-1 plasma levels are directly associated with the heart rhythm or indirectly with the degree of atrial remodeling we studied MCP-1 plasma levels before and three months after pulmonary vein isolation (PVI). We revealed that MCP-1 levels significantly increased after PVI both in patients with stable sinus rhythm (268 pg/ml vs. 349 pg/ml, baseline vs. 3 months after PVI; p<0.01; Fig.7B-C) and in patients with AF recurrence (281 pg/ml vs. 355 pg/ml, baseline vs. 3 months after PVI; p=0.03; Fig.7B-C). These data suggest that MCP-1 levels i) are not associated with the current heart rhythm (no difference between sinus rhythm vs. AF post PVI), ii) might rather indicate a preexistent atrial remodeling and does therefore not allow to predict short-term ablation success (no difference at baseline), and iii) might be associated with a PVI-induced pro-inflammatory and pro-fibrotic response potentially indicating scar formation after ablation. In sum, these data provide evidence that MCP-1 is altered in patients with AF indicating that a macrophage-related inflammatory mechanism could be involved in proarrhythmic atrial remodeling.

Figure 7.



Figure 7. MCP-1 in patients⁹²**. A**. Plasma levels of MCP-1 in patients with and without AF. **B**. MCP-1 plasma levels before ablation in AF patients with and without AF recurrence after ablation. **C**. MCP-1 plasma levels before and after ablation in AF patients with and without AF recurrence after ablation. Data are presented as median with interquartile ranges. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *AF*, atrial fibrillation, *MCP-1*, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1.

Over the recent years several macrophage subsets have been demonstrated, most importantly "inflammatory macrophages" originating from circulating monocytes that are recruited to sites of inflammation and "resident macrophages" which are located within different organs during steady-state, i.e. without any inflammation mediating tissue homeostasis^{79, 93, 94}. Although resident macrophages have been described in the healthy heart as well, their spatial distribution and their specific function was unknown.

In a genetically modified mouse model where macrophages are fluorescently labeled $(Cx_3cr1^{GFP/+})$ we could demonstrate that resident cardiac macrophages are enriched within the AV node by flow cytometry and histology (Fig.8)⁹⁵. We then performed optical clearing and confocal microscopy imaging of AV nodes and revealed that resident macrophages frequently intersperse with cardiomyocytes especially in the lower AV node.

Copyright protected

Figure 8. Resident cardiac macrophages in the AV node⁹⁵**. A**. Volumetric reconstruction of confocal microscopy after optical clearing in Cx₃Cr1^{GFP/+} mouse stained with HCN4 (red). **B**. Higher magnification of dashed square in A. **C**. Flow cytometric macrophage quantification in microdissected AV node and left ventricular free wall of C57BL/6 mice. Data presented as MEAN±SEM. ** p<0.01. AV, atrioventricular, CD, cluster of differentiation, CFB, central fibrous body, CN, compact node, IAS, interatrial septum, IVS, interventricular septum, LV, left ventricle, mg, milligram, μm, micrometer.

Since cardiomyocytes are functionally connected with adjacent cells by gap junctions formed by connexins we isolated AV node macrophages by fluorescent-activated cell sorting (FACS) and determined expression of connexins (Fig.9A). We found that AV node macrophages mainly express Connexin-43 (Cx43) establishing on average three contact points between macrophages and cardiomyocytes indicating gap junctions (Fig.9B). Since gap junctions allow electrical conduction between neighboring cardiomyocytes, we therefore hypothesized that macrophages are electrotonically coupled to cardiomyocytes via gap junctions as well.

To test this we co-cultured FACS-purified AV nodal macrophages and neonatal cardiomyocytes and confirmed Cx43-positive contact points indicating gap junctions between macrophages and cardiomyocytes (Fig.9C). Whole-cell patch-clamp experiments (Fig.9D-E) revealed typical resting membrane potentials and action potentials in cardiomyocytes (Fig.9F). In isolated macrophages the resting membrane potential was more depolarized (compared to cardiomyocytes) and we did not observe spontaneous electrical activity (Fig.9G). After three days of co-culture of neonatal cardiomyocytes with isolated macrophages, however, we found rhythmic depolarizations in 23% and irregular electrical activity in another 23% of the macrophages connected to cardiomyocytes (Fig.9H). The resting membrane potential of these macrophages was hyperpolarized compared to solitary macrophages indicating electrical coupling. To further study the interaction between both cell types we measured resting membrane potentials in cardiomyocytes coupled to macrophages and could demonstrate that these cardiomyocytes are more depolarized (compared to solitary cardiomyocytes) and that treatment of co-cultured cells with a Cx34 inhibitor could reverse this effect while treatment of solitary cardiomyocytes with the Cx34 inhibitor did not affect the resting membrane potential (Fig.9I-J).

Copyright protected



Next, we used the data from patch clamp experiments to perform a mathematical modeling of electrical interactions between macrophages and cardiomyocytes (Fig.10). According to this modeling macrophage coupling depolarizes the resting membrane potential and shortens the action potential duration of the coupled cardiomyocyte, effects that are further enhanced if more macrophages are coupled to the cardiomyocyte. These data indicate that macrophage coupling may enhance electrical conduction since an increased resting membrane potential allows to easier/faster reach the depolarization threshold and a shortened action potential duration, i.e. a shortened refractory period allows a higher depolarization frequency.



one AV bundle cardiomyocyte and an increasing number of cardiac macrophages⁹⁵. The graph shows the AV bundle cardiomyocyte membrane potential uncoupled or coupled to one, two, or four cardiac macrophages. *APD*, Action potential duration, *RMP*, resting membrane potential, *mV*, millivolts.

To test this directly in the AV node we generated a transgenic mouse model expressing a photoactivatable channelrhodopsin 2 (ChR2) specifically in macrophages. ChR2 is a cation channel that opens upon stimulation by light and allows influx of sodium ions, i.e. a depolarization of the cell. Hearts from these mice (Cx₃cr1 ChR2) were then perfused using a Langendorff apparatus and the RV free wall was removed to expose the AV node allowing to specifically illuminate the AV node (Fig.11A-D). To study the electrical conduction through the AV node we performed atrial pacing to assess the Wenckebach point, i.e. the cycle length at which an electrical impulse from the atrium is no longer conducted to the ventricles. When we turned on the light illuminating the AV node at the Wenckebach cycle length we observed a significantly increased number of stimuli that were conducted indicating an enhanced electrical conduction when AV node macrophages were depolarized (Fig.11E-G).

Copyright protected



** p<0.01. AV, atrioventricular, ECG, electrocardiography.

To further confirm the electrophysiology-modulating role of cardiac macrophages we studied several mouse models. First, we generated a transgenic mouse model with macrophage-specific Cx43 downregulation after tamoxifen treatment (Cx₃cr1 Cx43^{-/-}; Fig.12A). *In vivo*

electrophysiology (EP) studies in these mice revealed prolongation of the PR and AH intervals, the AV node refractory periods, the Wenckebach cycle length and the retrograde VA conduction cycle length demonstrating an impaired AV conduction (Fig.12B-E). Since the number of AV node macrophages was not altered in Cx₃cr1 Cx43^{-/-} mice these findings indicate that macrophages facilitate electrical conduction in the AV node via Cx43. Next, we performed *in vivo* EP studies in Csf1^{op} mice that congenitally lack macrophages and could confirm the findings mentioned above: absence of macrophages in these mice resulted in prolongation of the PR and AV intervals, the AV refractory periods, and the Wenckebach cycle length (Fig.12F-I).

Copyright protected

Figure 12. *In vivo* **EP** studies in mice with Cx43 knockdown and congenital lack of macrophages⁹⁵. **A.** Experimental Outline. **B-C.** AV node effective refractory period at 120 ms pacing frequency (**B**) and pacing cycle lengths at which Wenckebach conduction (**C**) occurred. **D-E.** Surface ECG from control and Cx₃cr1 Cx43^{-/-} mice illustrating the Wenckebach cycle length. Arrows indicate missing QRS complexes. **F-G.** Quantification of AV node macrophages in control and Csf1^{op} mice by flow cytometry. **H-I.** AV node effective refractory period at 120 ms pacing frequency (**H**) and pacing cycle lengths at which Wenckebach conduction occurred (**I**) in control and Csf1^{op} mice. Data presented as MEAN±SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01. *AV*, atrioventricular, *ECG*, electrocardiography, *EP*, electrophysiology, *ms*, milliseconds.

Finally, we studied CD11b^{DTR} mice that allow depletion of CD11b-positive cells (including resident cardiac macrophages) upon treatment with diphtheria toxin (DT; Fig.13). We implanted telemetry transmitters to continuously monitor the ECG in these mice. Within one

day after DT injection all mice developed first degree AV block (Fig.13C, E) that progressively evolved to second- and finally to third-degree AV block (Fig.13F-G) at the time of maximal macrophage depletion about three days after DT injection (Fig.13B). DT injection into C57BL6 control mice did not alter the ECG excluding toxic effects of DT, parabiosis experiments with $Cx_3cr1^{GFP/+}$ mice joined to CD11b^{DTR} mice excluded circulating factors since only in CD11b^{DTR} and not in $Cx_3cr1^{GFP/+}$ mice DT injection resulted in AV block, histologic assessment excluded apoptosis and fibrosis, blood chemistry tests excluded electrolyte disturbances, and treatment with isoproterenol, epinephrine or atropine excluded autonomic regulation as causal factors for altered AV conduction. In sum, these *in vivo* studies suggest that resident cardiac macrophages facilitate electrical conduction in the AV node.

Copyright protected

Figure 13. Telemetry monitoring in CD11b^{DTR} mice⁹⁵. **A.** Experimental Outline. **B.** Flow cytometric quantification of AV node macrophages three days after intraperitoneal injection of DT (25 ng/g) into C57BL/6 and CD11b^{DTR} mice. **C.** Onset of first degree AV block in CD11b^{DTR} and C57BL/6 mice after DT injection. **D-G.** Telemetric ECG recordings before and after DT injection (25 ng/g) in CD11b^{DTR} mice illustrating a normal ECG (**D**), first degree AV block (**E**), second-degree AV block (**F**) and third-degree AV block (**G**). Arrows indicate non-conducted P waves in second degree AV block. **** p<0.0001. *AV*, atrioventricular, *DT*, diphteria toxin, *ms*, milliseconds.

Summary and future perspectives

Arrhythmias are among the most common diseases and are clinically highly relevant since they account for significant morbidity and mortality. Over the last decades arrhythmia management has been improved, but preventive strategies, diagnostic approaches and therapeutic options are still limited and require the development of innovative concepts in the future.

The main reason for this currently still insufficient clinical management of arrhythmias is the complex underlying pathophysiology that is still not fully understood despite numerous advances that have been made in recent years. In this *Habilitation* some novel insights into cellular and molecular mechanisms leading to proarrhythmic remodeling and arrhythmogenesis have been gained. Studies on microRNAs revealed an important role for miR-29b in mediating atrial fibrosis in a dog model of heart failure induced AF and altered expression in human cardiac tissue suggested a role for miR-29b in humans as well. Furthermore, miRNAs circulating in the blood have been evaluated as potential biomarkers suggesting a role for miR-29b in profibrotic remodeling in AF patients and for miR-1 and miR-133a in exercise-induced remodeling in athletes. Additionally, our study on SHOX2 provided evidence for novel miRNA binding sites generated by genetic variants, thus, suggesting a potential mechanistic link how genetic variants might cause an increased risk for arrhythmias.

In addition to miRNA mediated mechanisms the role of immune cells, especially macrophages in arrhythmogenesis has been investigated. Our study on circulating MCP-1 revealed that MCP-1 levels are increased in AF patients and are further increasing after pulmonary vein isolation pointing towards immunologic mechanisms. Most importantly, cardiac resident macrophages have been identified as key regulators of electrical conduction in the AV node. It has been demonstrated that resident macrophages are enriched in the AV node, are electrically coupled to cardiomyocytes via connexin-43, and alter the electrophysiologic properties of coupled cardiomyocytes by increasing the resting membrane potential and shortening the action potential duration which facilitates electrical conduction.

The results of this *Habilitation* helped to increase our knowledge on proarrhythmic remodeling but several challenges remain. Some of the investigations were carried out on human samples and are thus highly valuable but provide rather indirect results and remain descriptive in most cases. Furthermore, human biosamples, especially heart tissue is very limited and even if available only some experiments are possible (e.g. expression analysis) while others are technically highly challenging (e.g. isolation of cells for patch clamp studies) or even impossible (e.g. genetic manipulation). To study causal arrhythmia mechanisms animal models are necessary and some of the findings presented here have been acquired in animals. The majority of basic science findings have been obtained in mouse models, these findings, however, cannot be directly applied to patients but require validation in animal models that closely resemble the human disease. This so-called translation of basic science findings into clinical practice will be the biggest challenge for researchers in the future.

Every animal species used in arrhythmia research has some specific advantages and disadvantages^{96, 97}. However, the pig seems to be the most suitable species for most studies for several reasons: i) the porcine cardiac anatomy, hemodynamic properties, and electrophysiology closely resembles the human situation (Fig.14); ii) instrumentation in pigs is relatively simple as human equipment can be used; iii) pigs are widely available and their use for research purposes is socially more accepted compared to other species such as dogs; and

iv) genetic engineering is available resulting in a growing number of genetically modified pigs (e.g. pigs with neonatal diabetes mellitus). These characteristics will allow to generate tailored, close-to-human pig models facilitating translational research.



potential duration in humans.

Recently, we have demonstrated the translational potential of pigs for arrhythmia research⁹⁸. In clinical practice, the most common trigger for AF is myocardial ischemia. Thus, we induced a myocardial infarction by ballon occlusion of the LAD for 90 minutes inducing an ischemic heart failure that closely resembles the situation in patients after myocardial infarction.

Ejection fraction was significantly reduced and the left ventricular end-diastolic pressure was significantly elevated which caused an increase in both left and right atrial pressure and finally the development of atrial fibrosis (Fig.15E-F). This structural remodeling finally resulted in an enhanced susceptibility for induced AF, longer AF episodes, and an increased AF burden in pigs with ischemic heart failure (Fig.15A-D). In sum, we could demonstrate that myocardial ischemia induces a proarrhythmic atrial remodeling leading to AF and could confirm the pig as a highly suitable species for translational studies in arrhythmia research.



Figure 15. Porcine ischemic heart failure model⁹⁸. A-D. Electrophysiology studies. Inducibility of atrial arrhythmia episodes per animal (A), percentage of successful bursts (B), average duration of induced arrhythmia episodes (C), and cumulative arrhythmia burden (D) in control and ischaemic pigs at day 30. E-F. Histologic assessment. Quantification of fibrosis in left atrial appendages (E) and remote left ventricle (F) between control pigs and ischaemic pigs at day 30 after infarction. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01. *AF*, atrial fibrillation, *d*, day, *LAA*, left atrial appendage, *LV*, left ventricle, μm , micrometer.

List of Abbreviations

μm	micrometer		
a.u.	arbitrary units		
ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme		
AF	Atrial fibrillation		
APD	Action potential duration		
AT1	angiotensin receptor type 1		
AV	Atrioventricular		
bpm	Beats per minute		
CD	Cluster of differentiation		
CD11b	Cluster of differentiation molecule 11B		
CFB	central fibrous body		
CHF	congestive heart failure		
ChR2	Channelrhodopsin 2		
CN	Compact node		
COL1A1	Collagen 1 alpha 1		
COL3A1	Collagen 3 alpha 1		
Csf1	Colony stimulating factor 1		
СТ	Cycle threshold		
CTGF	Connective Tissue Growth Factor		
CTL	Control		
Сх	Connexin		
Cx3cr1	CX3C chemokine receptor 1		
Cx43	Connexin-43		
d	day(s)		
DAD	Delayed afterdepolarisations		
DT	Diphteria toxin		
DTR	Diphteria toxin receptor		
EAD	Early afterdepolarizations		
ECG	Electrocardiography		
ECM	Extracellular Matrix		
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid		
EP	Electrophysiology		
FACS	Fluorescent-activated cell sorting		

FBN1	Fibrillin 1		
GFP	Green fluorescent protein		
GWAS	Genome-wide association study		
h	hour(s)		
hr	hour(s)		
IAS	Interatrial septum		
ICD	Implantable cardioverter defibrillator		
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β		
IVS	Interventricular septum		
LA	Left atrium		
LAA	Left atrial appendage		
LAD	Left anterior descending artery		
LV	Left ventricle		
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1		
mg	Milligram		
miR	microRNA		
miRNA	microRNA		
ml	milliliter		
MMP2	Matrix Metalloproteinase 2		
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging		
mRNA	Messenger RNA		
mV	millivolts		
NCX	Na ⁺ -Ca ²⁺ -exchanger		
ND	not detected		
pg	picogram		
PTEN	Phosphatase and Tensin homolog		
PVI	Pulmonary vein isolation		
RMP	Resting membrane potential		
RNA	Ribonucleid acid		
RV	Right ventricle		
RYR2	Ryanodine Receptor Type 2		
SEM	Standard error of the mean		
SERCA	sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase		
SHOX2	Short-stature homeobox 2		

SK3	Small-conductance calcium-activated potassium channel
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SR	Sarcoplasmatic Reticulum
TGFb	Transforming Growth Factor-β
TRPC3	Transient Receptor Potential Channel 3
UTR	Untranslated region
VA	Ventriculo-atrial
VTP	Ventricular tachypacing
w	With
w/o	Without

References

- 1. Andersson, T. et al. All-cause mortality in 272,186 patients hospitalized with incident atrial fibrillation 1995-2008: a Swedish nationwide long-term case-control study. *Eur Heart J* **34**, 1061-7 (2013).
- 2. Benjamin, E.J. et al. Impact of atrial fibrillation on the risk of death: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* **98**, 946-52 (1998).
- 3. Bogle, B.M., Ning, H., Mehrotra, S., Goldberger, J.J. & Lloyd-Jones, D.M. Lifetime Risk for Sudden Cardiac Death in the Community. *J Am Heart Assoc* **5** (2016).
- 4. Gillum, R.F. Geographic variation in sudden coronary death. *Am Heart J* **119**, 380-9 (1990).
- 5. Kirchhof, P. et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Eur Heart J* **37**, 2893-2962 (2016).
- 6. Krahn, A.D., Manfreda, J., Tate, R.B., Mathewson, F.A. & Cuddy, T.E. The natural history of atrial fibrillation: incidence, risk factors, and prognosis in the Manitoba Follow-Up Study. *Am J Med* **98**, 476-84 (1995).
- 7. Wakili, R. et al. Impact of real-time contact force and impedance measurement in pulmonary vein isolation procedures for treatment of atrial fibrillation. *Clin Res Cardiol* **103**, 97-106 (2014).
- 8. Wakili, R. et al. One-year clinical outcome after ablation with a novel multipolar irrigated ablation catheter for treatment of atrial fibrillation: potential implications for clinical use. *Europace* **18**, 1170-8 (2016).
- 9. Wang, T.J. et al. Temporal relations of atrial fibrillation and congestive heart failure and their joint influence on mortality: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* **107**, 2920-5 (2003).
- 10. Wolf, P.A., Abbott, R.D. & Kannel, W.B. Atrial fibrillation as an independent risk factor for stroke: the Framingham Study. *Stroke* **22**, 983-8 (1991).
- 11. Kim, M.H., Johnston, S.S., Chu, B.C., Dalal, M.R. & Schulman, K.L. Estimation of total incremental health care costs in patients with atrial fibrillation in the United States. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* **4**, 313-20 (2011).
- 12. Steinberg, B.A. et al. Drivers of hospitalization for patients with atrial fibrillation: Results from the Outcomes Registry for Better Informed Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation (ORBIT-AF). *Am Heart J* **167**, 735-42 e2 (2014).
- 13. Stewart, S., Murphy, N.F., Walker, A., McGuire, A. & McMurray, J.J. Cost of an emerging epidemic: an economic analysis of atrial fibrillation in the UK. *Heart* **90**, 286-92 (2004).
- 14. Priori, S.G. & Blomstrom-Lundqvist, C. 2015 European Society of Cardiology Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death summarized by co-chairs. *Eur Heart J* **36**, 2757-9 (2015).
- 15. Kirchhof, P. et al. Short-term versus long-term antiarrhythmic drug treatment after cardioversion of atrial fibrillation (Flec-SL): a prospective, randomised, open-label, blinded endpoint assessment trial. *Lancet* **380**, 238-46 (2012).
- 16. Lafuente-Lafuente, C., Longas-Tejero, M.A., Bergmann, J.F. & Belmin, J. Antiarrhythmics for maintaining sinus rhythm after cardioversion of atrial fibrillation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD005049 (2012).
- 17. Roy, D. et al. Amiodarone to prevent recurrence of atrial fibrillation. Canadian Trial of Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. *N Engl J Med* **342**, 913-20 (2000).
- 18. Roy, D. et al. Rhythm control versus rate control for atrial fibrillation and heart failure. *N Engl J Med* **358**, 2667-77 (2008).

- 19. Singh, B.N. et al. Dronedarone for maintenance of sinus rhythm in atrial fibrillation or flutter. *N Engl J Med* **357**, 987-99 (2007).
- 20. Hart, R.G., Pearce, L.A. & Aguilar, M.I. Meta-analysis: antithrombotic therapy to prevent stroke in patients who have nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. *Ann Intern Med* **146**, 857-67 (2007).
- 21. Ruff, C.T. et al. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of new oral anticoagulants with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. *Lancet* **383**, 955-62 (2014).
- 22. Arbelo, E. et al. The atrial fibrillation ablation pilot study: a European Survey on Methodology and results of catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation conducted by the European Heart Rhythm Association. *Eur Heart J* **35**, 1466-78 (2014).
- 23. Calkins, H. et al. 2012 HRS/EHRA/ECAS Expert Consensus Statement on Catheter and Surgical Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation: recommendations for patient selection, procedural techniques, patient management and follow-up, definitions, endpoints, and research trial design. *Europace* **14**, 528-606 (2012).
- 24. Ozcan, C. et al. Long-term survival after ablation of the atrioventricular node and implantation of a permanent pacemaker in patients with atrial fibrillation. *N Engl J Med* **344**, 1043-51 (2001).
- 25. Wood, M.A., Brown-Mahoney, C., Kay, G.N. & Ellenbogen, K.A. Clinical outcomes after ablation and pacing therapy for atrial fibrillation : a meta-analysis. *Circulation* **101**, 1138-44 (2000).
- 26. Calkins, H. et al. Catheter ablation of ventricular tachycardia in patients with structural heart disease using cooled radiofrequency energy: results of a prospective multicenter study. Cooled RF Multi Center Investigators Group. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **35**, 1905-14 (2000).
- 27. Carbucicchio, C. et al. Catheter ablation for the treatment of electrical storm in patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillators: short- and long-term outcomes in a prospective single-center study. *Circulation* **117**, 462-9 (2008).
- 28. Bardy, G.H. et al. Amiodarone or an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator for congestive heart failure. *N Engl J Med* **352**, 225-37 (2005).
- 29. Moss, A.J. et al. Prophylactic implantation of a defibrillator in patients with myocardial infarction and reduced ejection fraction. *N Engl J Med* **346**, 877-83 (2002).
- 30. Cosedis Nielsen, J. et al. Radiofrequency ablation as initial therapy in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *N Engl J Med* **367**, 1587-95 (2012).
- 31. Mont, L. et al. Catheter ablation vs. antiarrhythmic drug treatment of persistent atrial fibrillation: a multicentre, randomized, controlled trial (SARA study). *Eur Heart J* **35**, 501-7 (2014).
- 32. Roskell, N.S., Samuel, M., Noack, H. & Monz, B.U. Major bleeding in patients with atrial fibrillation receiving vitamin K antagonists: a systematic review of randomized and observational studies. *Europace* **15**, 787-97 (2013).
- 33. Garnreiter, J.M., Pilcher, T.A., Etheridge, S.P. & Saarel, E.V. Inappropriate ICD shocks in pediatrics and congenital heart disease patients: Risk factors and programming strategies. *Heart Rhythm* **12**, 937-42 (2015).
- 34. van der Heijden, A.C. et al. The clinical course of patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillators: Extended experience on clinical outcome, device replacements, and device-related complications. *Heart Rhythm* **12**, 1169-76 (2015).
- 35. Nattel, S. New ideas about atrial fibrillation 50 years on. *Nature* **415**, 219-26 (2002).

- 36. Nattel, S., Burstein, B. & Dobrev, D. Atrial remodeling and atrial fibrillation: mechanisms and implications. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* **1**, 62-73 (2008).
- 37. Wakili, R., Voigt, N., Kaab, S., Dobrev, D. & Nattel, S. Recent advances in the molecular pathophysiology of atrial fibrillation. *J Clin Invest* **121**, 2955-68 (2011).
- 38. Lai, L.P. et al. Measurement of funny current (I(f)) channel mRNA in human atrial tissue: correlation with left atrial filling pressure and atrial fibrillation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* **10**, 947-53 (1999).
- 39. Schotten, U., Verheule, S., Kirchhof, P. & Goette, A. Pathophysiological mechanisms of atrial fibrillation: a translational appraisal. *Physiol Rev* **91**, 265-325 (2011).
- 40. Voigt, N. et al. Enhanced sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ leak and increased Na+-Ca2+ exchanger function underlie delayed afterdepolarizations in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* **125**, 2059-70 (2012).
- 41. Kistamas, K. et al. Calcium Handling Defects and Cardiac Arrhythmia Syndromes. *Front Pharmacol* **11**, 72 (2020).
- 42. Landstrom, A.P., Dobrev, D. & Wehrens, X.H.T. Calcium Signaling and Cardiac Arrhythmias. *Circ Res* **120**, 1969-1993 (2017).
- 43. Nguyen, M.N., Kiriazis, H., Gao, X.M. & Du, X.J. Cardiac Fibrosis and Arrhythmogenesis. *Compr Physiol* **7**, 1009-1049 (2017).
- 44. Allessie, M.A. et al. Pathophysiology and prevention of atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* **103**, 769-77 (2001).
- 45. Lee, R.C., Feinbaum, R.L. & Ambros, V. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* **75**, 843-54 (1993).
- 46. Wightman, B., Ha, I. & Ruvkun, G. Posttranscriptional regulation of the heterochronic gene lin-14 by lin-4 mediates temporal pattern formation in C. elegans. *Cell* **75**, 855-62 (1993).
- 47. Ambros, V. The functions of animal microRNAs. *Nature* **431**, 350-5 (2004).
- 48. Bartel, D.P. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* **116**, 281-97 (2004).
- 49. Flynt, A.S. & Lai, E.C. Biological principles of microRNA-mediated regulation: shared themes amid diversity. *Nat Rev Genet* **9**, 831-42 (2008).
- 50. Wakili, R., Clauss, S. & Kaab, S. [Molecular mechanisms of atrial fibrillation: potential role of microRNAs as new therapeutic targets and potential biomarkers]. *Herz* **37**, 166-71 (2012).
- 51. Clauss, S., Sinner, M.F., Kaab, S. & Wakili, R. The Role of MicroRNAs in Antiarrhythmic Therapy for Atrial Fibrillation. *Arrhythm Electrophysiol Rev* **4**, 146-55 (2015).
- 52. Cardin, S. et al. Contrasting gene expression profiles in two canine models of atrial fibrillation. *Circ Res* **100**, 425-33 (2007).
- 53. Shi, Y. et al. Remodeling of atrial dimensions and emptying function in canine models of atrial fibrillation. *Cardiovasc Res* **52**, 217-25 (2001).
- 54. Dawson, K. et al. MicroRNA29: a mechanistic contributor and potential biomarker in atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* **127**, 1466-75, 1475e1-28 (2013).
- 55. Marrouche, N.F. et al. Association of atrial tissue fibrosis identified by delayed enhancement MRI and atrial fibrillation catheter ablation: the DECAAF study. *JAMA* **311**, 498-506 (2014).
- 56. Oakes, R.S. et al. Detection and quantification of left atrial structural remodeling with delayed-enhancement magnetic resonance imaging in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* **119**, 1758-67 (2009).

- 57. Glinge, C. et al. Stability of Circulating Blood-Based MicroRNAs Pre-Analytic Methodological Considerations. *PLoS One* **12**, e0167969 (2017).
- 58. Molina, C.E. et al. Profibrotic, Electrical, and Calcium-Handling Remodeling of the Atria in Heart Failure Patients With and Without Atrial Fibrillation. *Front Physiol* **9**, 1383 (2018).
- 59. Briceno, D.F. et al. Clinical and electrophysiological characteristics of idiopathic ventricular arrhythmias originating from the slow pathway region. *Heart Rhythm* **16**, 1421-1428 (2019).
- 60. Brignole, M. et al. Syncope due to idiopathic paroxysmal atrioventricular block: long-term follow-up of a distinct form of atrioventricular block. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **58**, 167-73 (2011).
- 61. Kim, E.J. et al. Atrial fibrillation without comorbidities: Prevalence, incidence and prognosis (from the Framingham Heart Study). *Am Heart J* **177**, 138-44 (2016).
- 62. Clauss, S. & Ellinor, P.T. Does Atrial Fibrillation Follow Function? Ion Channel Mutations and Lone Atrial Fibrillation. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol* **8**, 1005-6 (2015).
- 63. Luo, R. et al. Identification of potential candidate genes and pathways in atrioventricular nodal reentry tachycardia by whole-exome sequencing. *Clin Transl Med* **10**, 238-257 (2020).
- 64. Roselli, C., Rienstra, M. & Ellinor, P.T. Genetics of Atrial Fibrillation in 2020: GWAS, Genome Sequencing, Polygenic Risk, and Beyond. *Circ Res* **127**, 21-33 (2020).
- 65. Tucker, N.R., Clauss, S. & Ellinor, P.T. Common variation in atrial fibrillation: navigating the path from genetic association to mechanism. *Cardiovasc Res* **109**, 493-501 (2016).
- 66. Christophersen, I.E. et al. Large-scale analyses of common and rare variants identify 12 new loci associated with atrial fibrillation. *Nat Genet* **49**, 946-952 (2017).
- 67. Ellinor, P.T. et al. Meta-analysis identifies six new susceptibility loci for atrial fibrillation. *Nat Genet* **44**, 670-5 (2012).
- 68. Arking, D.E. et al. Genetic association study of QT interval highlights role for calcium signaling pathways in myocardial repolarization. *Nat Genet* **46**, 826-36 (2014).
- 69. Ashar, F.N. et al. A comprehensive evaluation of the genetic architecture of sudden cardiac arrest. *Eur Heart J* **39**, 3961-3969 (2018).
- 70. Napier, M.D. et al. Genome-wide association study and meta-analysis identify loci associated with ventricular and supraventricular ectopy. *Sci Rep* **8**, 5675 (2018).
- 71. van Setten, J. et al. PR interval genome-wide association meta-analysis identifies 50 loci associated with atrial and atrioventricular electrical activity. *Nat Commun* **9**, 2904 (2018).
- 72. Hoffmann, S. et al. Coding and non-coding variants in the SHOX2 gene in patients with early-onset atrial fibrillation. *Basic Res Cardiol* **111**, 36 (2016).
- 73. Zhao, J., Liu, T. & Li, G. Relationship between two arrhythmias: sinus node dysfunction and atrial fibrillation. *Arch Med Res* **45**, 351-5 (2014).
- 74. Baldesberger, S. et al. Sinus node disease and arrhythmias in the long-term follow-up of former professional cyclists. *Eur Heart J* **29**, 71-8 (2008).
- 75. Eijsvogels, T.M., Fernandez, A.B. & Thompson, P.D. Are There Deleterious Cardiac Effects of Acute and Chronic Endurance Exercise? *Physiol Rev* **96**, 99-125 (2016).
- 76. Elosua, R. et al. Sport practice and the risk of lone atrial fibrillation: a case-control study. *Int J Cardiol* **108**, 332-7 (2006).
- 77. Schuttler, D., Clauss, S., Weckbach, L.T. & Brunner, S. Molecular Mechanisms of Cardiac Remodeling and Regeneration in Physical Exercise. *Cells* **8** (2019).

- Clauss, S. et al. MicroRNAs as Biomarkers for Acute Atrial Remodeling in Marathon Runners (The miRathon Study--A Sub-Study of the Munich Marathon Study). *PLoS One* 11, e0148599 (2016).
- 79. Frodermann, V. & Nahrendorf, M. Macrophages and Cardiovascular Health. *Physiol Rev* **98**, 2523-2569 (2018).
- 80. Hulsmans, M. et al. Cardiac macrophages promote diastolic dysfunction. *J Exp Med* **215**, 423-440 (2018).
- 81. Meissner, M., Viehmann, S.F. & Kurts, C. DAMPening sterile inflammation of the kidney. *Kidney Int* **95**, 489-491 (2019).
- 82. Ninichuk, V. et al. Late onset of Ccl2 blockade with the Spiegelmer mNOX-E36-3'PEG prevents glomerulosclerosis and improves glomerular filtration rate in db/db mice. *Am J Pathol* **172**, 628-37 (2008).
- 83. Swirski, F.K. et al. Monocyte accumulation in mouse atherogenesis is progressive and proportional to extent of disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 10340-10345 (2006).
- 84. Aune, D. et al. Diabetes mellitus, blood glucose and the risk of atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *J Diabetes Complications* **32**, 501-511 (2018).
- 85. Benjamin, E.J. et al. Independent risk factors for atrial fibrillation in a population-based cohort. The Framingham Heart Study. *JAMA* **271**, 840-4 (1994).
- 86. Huxley, R.R., Filion, K.B., Konety, S. & Alonso, A. Meta-analysis of cohort and casecontrol studies of type 2 diabetes mellitus and risk of atrial fibrillation. *Am J Cardiol* **108**, 56-62 (2011).
- 87. Renner, S. et al. Porcine models for studying complications and organ crosstalk in diabetes mellitus. *Cell Tissue Res* (2020).
- 88. Monnerat, G. et al. Macrophage-dependent IL-1beta production induces cardiac arrhythmias in diabetic mice. *Nat Commun* **7**, 13344 (2016).
- 89. Li, N. & Brundel, B. Inflammasomes and Proteostasis Novel Molecular Mechanisms Associated With Atrial Fibrillation. *Circ Res* **127**, 73-90 (2020).
- 90. Zhou, X. & Dudley, S.C., Jr. Evidence for Inflammation as a Driver of Atrial Fibrillation. *Front Cardiovasc Med* **7**, 62 (2020).
- 91. Clauss, S. et al. Ccl2/Mcp-1 blockade reduces glomerular and interstitial macrophages but does not ameliorate renal pathology in collagen4A3-deficient mice with autosomal recessive Alport nephropathy. *J Pathol* **218**, 40-7 (2009).
- 92. Lackermair, K. et al. Alteration of Endothelin 1, MCP-1 and Chromogranin A in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing pulmonary vein isolation. *PLoS One* **12**, e0184337 (2017).
- 93. Epelman, S. et al. Embryonic and adult-derived resident cardiac macrophages are maintained through distinct mechanisms at steady state and during inflammation. *Immunity* **40**, 91-104 (2014).
- 94. Epelman, S., Lavine, K.J. & Randolph, G.J. Origin and functions of tissue macrophages. *Immunity* **41**, 21-35 (2014).
- 95. Hulsmans, M. et al. Macrophages Facilitate Electrical Conduction in the Heart. *Cell* **169**, 510-522 e20 (2017).
- 96. Clauss, S. et al. Animal models of arrhythmia: classic electrophysiology to genetically modified large animals. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2019).
- 97. Schuttler, D. et al. Animal Models of Atrial Fibrillation. *Circ Res* **127**, 91-110 (2020).
- 98. Clauss, S. et al. Characterization of a porcine model of atrial arrhythmogenicity in the context of ischaemic heart failure. *PLoS One* **15**, e0232374 (2020).

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Professor Steffen Massberg, Director of the Department of Medicine I at the University Hospital Munich for providing an excellent research environment and for supporting my scientific work.

I also want to express my particular gratitude to Professor Stefan Kääb who invited me into his research group, became my most influential clinical and scientific teacher, supported me whenever needed in professional and personal situations, helped me to build my own research group and to become an independent researcher, and remained a true mentor.

Furthermore, I am very thankful to know Professor Daphne Merkus who treated me as a researcher at eye level from the very beginning, established an inspiring atmosphere, and simply supported me in all my activities.

I would also like to thank Dr. Philipp Tomsits and Dr. Dominik Schüttler who were the first members of my research team, believed in me and stayed with me even during challenging times, and became my dear friends.

Science is pure team work, therefore I want to thank all the members of my group for all their hard work and the familiar atmosphere in our laboratory. Thank you, Julia V., Christina, Sarah, Christine, Jan, Ruibing, Florian, Kavi, Julia B., Aparna, Li, Simone, Valerie, Nora, Lina.

I want to particularly thank my friend Dr. Ling Xiao who I strongly admire for her profound knowledge, her widespread technical expertise and her unbelievable work ethic being the role model of a 'perfect scientist'.

Many thanks to Professor Patrick Ellinor for inviting me to his laboratory as a postdoctoral fellow and for supervising me during these terrific years.

I also thank all the other collegues, friends and family members who supported me during all these years.

Finally, I would like to thank my wife Dr. Ina Klier for the wonderful time I have since I met her and our son Anton for showing me what is really important in life.

Curriculum vitae

Not available online

Not available online

Not available online

Publication List

- IF Impact Factor (Clarivate Analytics, InCites Journal Citation Reports)
- * shared authorship/equal contribution

1. Original publications as first or senior author

- Clauss S.*, Schüttler D.*, Bleyer C., Vlcek J., Shakarami M., Tomsits P., Schneider S., Maderspacher F., Chataut K., Trebo A., Wang C., Kleeberger J., Xia R., Baloch E., Hildebrand B., Massberg S., Wakili R., Kääb S. Characterization of a porcine model of atrial arrhythmogenicity in the context of ischaemic heart failure. PLoS One. 2020 May 4;15(5):e0232374. (IF 2.776)
- Lackermair K.*, Clauss S.*, Voigt T., Klier I., Summo C., Hildebrand B., Nickel T., Estner HL., Kääb S., Wakili R., Wilbert-Lampen U. Alteration of Endothelin 1, MCP-1 and Chromogranin A in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing pulmonary vein isolation. PLoS One. 2017 Sep 8;12(9):e0184337. (IF 2.766)
- Hulsmans M.*, Clauss S.*, Xiao L.*, Aguirre AD., King KR., Hanley A., Hucker WJ., Wülfers EM., Seemann G., Courties G., Iwamoto Y., Sun Y., Savol AJ., Sager HB., Lavine KJ., Fishbein GA., Capen DE., Da Silva N., Miquerol L., Wakimoto H., Seidman CE., Seidman JG., Sadreyev RI., Naxerova K., Mitchell RN., Brown D., Libby P., Weissleder R., Swirski FK., Kohl P., Vinegoni C., Milan DJ., Ellinor PT., Nahrendorf M. Macrophages Facilitate Electrical Conduction in the Heart. Cell. 2017;169(3):510-522. (IF 31.398)
- Clauss S.*, Scherr J.*, Hanley A., Schneider J., Klier I., Lackermair K., Hoster E., Vogeser M., Nieman C., Halle M., Nickel T., Impact of polyphenols on physiological stress and cardiac burden in marathon runners results from a sub-study of the BeMaGIC Study. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2017 May;42(5):523-528. (IF 2.518)
- Glinge C.*, Clauss S.*, Boddum K., Jabbari R., Jabbari J., Risgaard B., Tomsits P., Hildebrand B., Kääb S., Wakili R., Jespersen t., Tfelt-Hansen J. Stability of circulating blood-based microRNAs – Pre-analytic methodological considerations. PLoS One. 2017 Feb 2;12(2):e0167969. (IF 2.766)
- Clauss S., Wakili R., Hildebrand B., Kääb S., Hoster E., Klier I., Martens E., Hanley A., Hanssen H., Halle M., Nickel T. MicroRNAs as Biomarkers for Acute Atrial Remodeling in Marathon Runners (The miRathon Study - A Sub-Study of the Munich Marathon Study). PLoS One. 2016 Feb 9;11(2):e0148599. (IF 2.806)
- Wakili R.*, Clauss S.*, Schmidt V, Ulbrich M, Hahnefeld A, Schüssler F, Siebermair J, Kääb S, Estner HL. Impact of real-time contact force and impedance measurement in pulmonary vein isolation procedures for treatment of atrial fibrillation. Clin Res Cardiol. 2014 Feb;103(2):97-106. (IF 4.560)
- Clauss S., Gross O., Kulkarni O., Avila-Ferrufino A., Radomska E., Segerer S., Eulberg D., Klussmann S., Anders HJ., Ccl2/Mcp-1 blockade reduces glomerular and interstitial macrophages but does not ameliorate renal pathology in collagen4A3-deficient mice with autosomal recessive Alport nephropathy. J Pathol, 2008. (IF 5.121)

 Ninichuk V.*, Clauss S.*, Kulkarni O., Schmid H., Segerer S., Radomska E., Eulberg D., Buchner K., Selve N., Klussmann S., Anders HJ., Late onset of Ccl2 blockade with the Spiegelmer mNOX-E36-3'PEG prevents glomerulosclerosis and improves glomerular filtration rate in db/db mice. Am J Pathol, 172(3):628-37, 2008. (IF 5.697)

2. Original publications as co-author

- 8. Walsh R, Lahrouchi N, Tadros R, Kyndt F, Glinge C, Postema PG, Amin AS, Nannenberg EA, Ware JS, Whiffin N, Mazzarotto F, Škorić-Milosavljević D, Krijger C, Arbelo E, Babuty D, Barajas-Martinez H, Beckmann BM, Bézieau S, Bos JM, Breckpot J, Campuzano O, Castelletti S, Celen C, Clauss S, Corveleyn A, Crotti L, Dagradi F, de Asmundis C, Denjoy I, Dittmann S, Ellinor PT, Ortuño CG, Giustetto C, Gourraud JB, Hazeki D, Horie M, Ishikawa T, Itoh H, Kaneko Y, Kanters JK, Kimoto H, Kotta MC, Krapels IPC, Kurabayashi M, Lazarte J, Leenhardt A, Loeys BL, Lundin C, Makiyama T, Mansourati J, Martins RP, Mazzanti A, Mörner S, Napolitano C, Ohkubo K, Papadakis M, Rudic B, Molina MS, Sacher F, Sahin H, Sarquella-Brugada G, Sebastiano R, Sharma S, Sheppard MN, Shimamoto K, Shoemaker MB, Stallmeyer B, Steinfurt J, Tanaka Y, Tester DJ, Usuda K, van der Zwaag PA, Van Dooren S, Van Laer L, Winbo A, Winkel BG, Yamagata K, Zumhagen S, Volders PGA, Lubitz SA, Antzelevitch C, Platonov PG, Odening KE, Roden DM, Roberts JD, Skinner JR, Tfelt-Hansen J, van den Berg MP, Olesen MS, Lambiase PD, Borggrefe M, Hayashi K, Rydberg A, Nakajima T, Yoshinaga M, Saenen JB, Kääb S, Brugada P, Robyns T, Giachino DF, Ackerman MJ, Brugada R, Brugada J, Gimeno JR, Hasdemir C, Guicheney P, Priori SG, Schulze-Bahr E, Makita N, Schwartz PJ, Shimizu W, Aiba T, Schott JJ, Redon R, Ohno S, Probst V; Nantes Referral Center for inherited cardiac arrhythmia, Behr ER, Barc J, Bezzina CR. Enhancing rare variant interpretation in inherited arrhythmias through quantitative analysis of consortium disease cohorts and population controls. Genet Med. 2020 Sep 7. doi: 10.1038/s41436-020-00946-5. (IF (2019) 8,904)
- Hoffmann S., Paone C., Sumer SA., Diebold S., Weiss B., Roeth R., Clauss S., Klier I., Kääb S., Schulz A., Wild PS., Ghrib A., Zeller T., Schnabel RB., Just S., Rappold GA., Functional Characterization of Rare Variants in the *SHOX2* Gene Identified in Sinus Node Dysfunction and Atrial Fibrillation. Front Genet. 2019 Jul 11;10:648. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2019.00648. eCollection 2019. (IF (2018) 3,517)
- Tucker N., McLellan M., Hu D., Ye J., Parsons V., Mills R., Clauss S., Dolmatova E., Shea M., Milan DJ., Scott N., Lindsay M., Lubitz S., Domian I., Stone J., Lin H., Ellinor PT. Novel Mutation in FLNC (Filamin C) Causes Familial Restrictive Cardiomyopathy. Circulation: Cardiovascular Genetics. 2017 Dec;10:e001780. (IF 5.664)
- Grabmaier U., Clauss S., Gross L., Klier I., Franz WM., Steinbeck G., Wakili R., Theiss HD., Brenner C. Diagnostic and prognostic value of miR-1 and miR-29b on adverse ventricular remodeling after acute myocardial infarction - The SITAGRAMI-miR analysis. Int J Cardiol. 2017 Oct 1;244:30-36. (IF 4.034)
- Lackermair K., Scherr J., Waidhauser G., Methe H., Hoster E., Nieman DC., Hanley A., Clauss S., Halle M., Nickel T. Influence of polyphenol-rich diet on exercise-induced immunomodulation in male endurance athletes. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2017 Oct;42(10):1023-1030. (IF 2.518)

- 13. Christophersen I. Rienstra M., Roselli C., Yin X., Geelhoed B., Barnard J., Lin H., Arking D., Smith A., Albert C., Chaffin M., Tucker N., Li M., Klarin D., Bihlmeyer N., Low S., Weeke P., Muller-Nurasyid M., Smith G., Brody J., Niemeijer M., Dorr M., Trompet S., Huffmann J., Gustafsson S., Schurman C., Kleber M., Lyytikainen L., Seppala I., Malik R., Horimoto A., Perez M., Sinisalo J., Aeschbacher S., Theriault S., Yao J., Radmanesh F., Weiss S., Teumer A., Choi S., Weng L., Clauss S., Deo R., Rader D., Shah S., Sun Q., Worrall B., Pare G., Kamatani Y., Hagemeijer Y., Verweij N., Siland J., Kubo M., Smith J., Van Wagoner D., Bis J., Perz S., Psaty B., Ridker P., Magnani J., Harris T., Launer L., Shoemaker B., Padmanabhan S., Haessler J., Bartz T., Waldenberger M., Lichtner P., Arendt M., Krieger J., Kahonen M., Risch L., Mansur A., Peters A., Smith B., Lind L., Scott S., Lu Y., Bottinger E., Hernesniemi J., Lindgren C., Wong J., Huang J., Eskola M., Morris A., Ford I., Reiner A., Delgado G., Chen L., Chen Y., Sandhu R., Li M., Boerwinkle E., Eisele L., Lannfeldt L., Rost N., Anderson C., Taylor K., Campbell A., Magnusson P., Porteous D., Hocking L., Vlachopoulou E., Pedersen N., Nikus K., Orho-Melander M., Hamsten A., Heeringa J., Denny J., Kriebel J., Darbar D., Newton-Cheh C., Shaffer C., Macfarlane P., Heilmann S., Almgren P., Huang P., Sotoodehnia N., Soliman E., Uitterlinden A., Hofman A., Franco O., Volker U., Jockel KH., Sinner MF., Lin H., Guo X., Dichgans M., Ingelsson E., Kooperberg C., Melander O., Loos R., Laurikka J., Conen D., Rosand J., van der Harst P., Lokki M-L., Kathiresan S., Pereira A., Jukema J., Hayward C., Rotter J., März W., Lehtimaki T., Stricker B., Chung M., Felix S., Gudnason V., Alonso A., Roden D., Kääb S., Chasman D., Heckbert S., Benjamin E., Tanaka T., Lunetta K., Lubitz S., Ellinor PT., Large-scale analyses of common and rare variants identify 12 new loci associated with atrial fibrillation. Nat Genet. 2017 Apr 17. (IF 27.125)
- Hanley A., Walsh K., Joyce C., McLellan M., Clauss S., Hagen A., Shea M., Tucker N., Lin H., Fahy G., Ellinor P., Mutation of a Common Amino Acid in NKX2.5 Results in Dilated Cardiomyopathy in Two Large Families. BMC Med Genet. 2016 Nov 17;17(1):83. (IF 2.198)
- 15. Ye J., Tucker N., Weng L., **Clauss S.**, Lubitz S., Ellinor P. A Functional Variant Associated with Atrial Fibrillation Regulates PITX2c Expression through TFAP2a. Am J Hum Genet. 2016 Dec 1;99(6):1281-1291. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2016.10.001. (**IF 9.025**)
- 16. Hoffmann S., Clauss S., Berger I., Weiß B., Montalbano A., Röth R., Bucher M., Klier I., Wakili R., Günther S., Bagaev E., Seitz H., Schulze-Bahr E., Katus H., Flachsbart F., Nebel A., Rottbauer W., Kääb S., Just S., Rappold G., Coding and non-coding variants in the SHOX2 gene in patients with atrial fibrillation. Basic Res Cardiol. 2016 May;111(3):36. doi: 10.1007/s00395-016-0557-2. (IF 5.306)
- Wakili R., Siebermair J., Fichtner S., Sinner M., Klocker E., Olesch L., Hilberath J., Sarai S., Clauss S., Sattler S., Kääb S., Estner H. One-year Clinical Outcome after Ablation with a Novel Multipolar Irrigated Ablation Catheter for Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation -Potential Implications for Clinical Use. Europace. 2016 Jan 11. (IF 4.521)
- Chen Y., Wakili R., Xiao J., Wu C., Luo X., Clauss S., Dawson K., Qi X., Naud P., Shi Y., Tardif J., Kääb S., Dobrev D., Nattel S. Detailed characterization of microRNA changes in a canine heart failure model: Relationship to arrhythmogenic structural remodeling. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2014 Dec;77:113-24. (IF 4.655)

- 19. Siebermair J., **Clauss S.**, Martens E., Schuessler F., Oversohl N., Haserueck N., Estner HL., Kääb S., Wakili R. Remote monitoring of implantable cardioverter-defibrillators : Problems and implications using a telemonitoring system. Herz. 2014 May 23 (**IF 0.690**)
- Dawson K., Wakili R., Ordög B., Clauss S., Chen Y., Iwasaki Y., Voigt N., Qi XY., Sinner MF., Dobrev D., Kääb S., Nattel S. MicroRNA29: a mechanistic contributor and potential biomarker in atrial fibrillation. Circulation. 2013 Apr 9;127(14):1466-75, 1475e1-28. (IF 14.948)
- Holthoff HP., Zeibig S., Boivin V., Bauer J., Lohse MJ., Kääb S., Clauss S., Jahns R., Schlipp A., Münch G., Ungerer M. Detection of Anti β1-AR Auto-Antibodies in Heart Failure by a Cell-Based Competition ELISA. Circ Res. 2012 Jul 18. (IF 11.861)
- Ellinor PT., Lunetta KL., Albert CM., Glazer NL., Ritchie MD., Smith AV., Arking DE., Muller-Nurasyid M., Krijthe BP., Lubitz SA., Bis JC., Chung MK., Dorr M., Ozaki K., Roberts JD., Smith JG., Pfeufer A., Sinner MF., Lohman K., Ding J., Smith NL., Smith JD., Rienstra M., Rice KM., Van Wagoner DR., Magnani JW., Wakili R., **Clauss S.**, Rotter JI., Steinbeck G., Launer LJ., Davies RW., Borkovich M., Harris TB., Lin H., Volker U., Volzke H., Milan DJ., Hofman A., Boerwinkle E., Chen LY., Soliman EZ., Voight BF., Li G., Chakravarti A., Kubo M., Tedrow UB., Rose LM., Ridker PM., Conen D., Tsunoda T., Furukawa T., Sotoodehnia N., Xu S., Kamatani N., Levy D., Nakamura Y., Parvez B., Mahida S., Furie KL., Rosand J., Muhammad R., Psaty BM., Meitinger T., Perz S., Wichmann HE., Witteman JC., Kao WH., Kathiresan S., Roden DM., Uitterlinden AG., Rivadeneira F., McKnight B., Sjogren M., Newman AB., Liu Y., Gollob MH., Melander O., Tanaka T., Stricker BH., Felix SB., Alonso A., Darbar D., Barnard J., Chasman DI., Heckbert SR., Benjamin EJ., Gudnason V., Kääb S. Meta-analysis identifies six new susceptibility loci for atrial fibrillation. Nat Genet. 2012 Apr 29;44(6):670-5. (IF 35.209)
- Skuginna V., Lech M., Allam R., Ryu M., Clauss S., Susanti HE., Römmele C., Garlanda C., Mantovani A., Anders HJ., Toll-like receptor signaling and SIGIRR in renal fibrosis upon unilateral ureteral obstruction. PLoS One. 2011 Apr 22;6(4):e19204. (IF 4.092)
- Lichtnekert J., Vielhauer V., Zecher D., Kulkarni O., Clauss S., Segerer S., Hornung V., Mayadas TN., Beutler B., Akira S., Anders HJ., Trif is not required for immune complex glomerulonephritis: Dying cells activate mesangial cells via Tlr2/Myd88 rather than Tlr3/Trif. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 2009. (IF 3.731)
- 25. Ninichuk V., Kulkarni O., **Clauss S.**, Anders HJ., Tubular atrophy, interstitial fibrosis, and inflammation in type 2 diabetic db/db mice. An accelerated model of advanced diabetic nephropathy. Eur J Med Res, 12(8):351-5, 2007. (**IF 0.830**)

<u>3. Case Reports</u>

None.

<u>4. Reviews</u>

 Schüttler D., Bapat A., Kääb S., Lee K., Tomsits P., Clauss S.*, Hucker W.* Animal Models of Atrial Fibrillation. Circ Res. 2020 Jun 19;127(1):91-110. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.316366. (IF (2018) 15.862)

- Schüttler D., Clauss S., Weckbach LT., Brunner S., Molecular Mechanisms of Cardiac Remodeling and Regeneration in Physical Exercise. Cells. 2019 Sep 23;8(10). pii: E1128. doi: 10.3390/cells8101128. (IF (2018) 5,656)
- 3. Renner S., Blutke A., **Clauss S.**, Deeg C., Kemter E., Merkus D., Wanke R., Wolf E., Porcine models for studying complications and organ crosstalk in diabetes mellitus. Cell and Tissue Research. (**IF (2018) 3.360**)
- Clauss S., Bleyer C., Schüttler D., Tomsits P., Renner S., Klymiuk N., Wakili R., Massberg S., Wolf E., Kääb S. Animal models of arrhythmia: classic electrophysiology to genetically modified large animals. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2019 Mar 20. doi: 10.1038/s41569-019-0179-0. (IF (2018) 17.420)
- 5. Weckbach L., Grabmaier U., **Clauss S.**, Wakili R. MicroRNAs as a Diagnostic Tool for Heart Failure and Atrial Fibrillation. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2016 Apr;27:24-30. (**IF 5.363**)
- Tucker N, Clauss S., Ellinor PT., Common Variation in Atrial Fibrillation: Navigating the Path from Genetic Association to Mechanism. Cardiovasc Res. 2016 Apr 1;109(4):493-501. (IF 5.878)
- 7. **Clauss S.**, Sinner M., Kääb S., Wakili R. The Role of MicroRNAs in Antiarrhythmic Therapy for Atrial Fibrillation. Arrhythmia & Electrophysiology Review, 2015;4;3.
- 8. Wakili R., **Clauss S.**, Kääb S. Molecular mechanisms of atrial fibrillation: Potential role of microRNAs as new therapeutic targets and potential biomarkers. Herz. 2012 Mar;37(2):166-171. (**IF 0.779**)

5. Book chapters

- 1. Kleeberger J., Tomsits Ph., Kääb S., Clauss S., Non-coding RNA and Cardiac Electrophysiological Disorders, Adv Exp Med Biol. 2020;1229:301-310. (IF (2018) 2.126)
- Clauss S., Wakili R., Steinbeck G., Kääb S., Provocative Testing for Diagnosis of Arrhythmias, in: Camm J., Saksena S., Electrophysiological Disorders of the Heart, edition 2. Elsevier Saunders 2012. p. 973-983.

6. Other Publications (Editorials)

- Tomsits P., Clauss S., Kääb S. Genetic Burden of Birthweight on Atrial Fibrillation: Translational Challenges in Genetic Atrial Fibrillation Studies. Circ Genom Precis Med. 2020 Jun;13(3):e002987. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGEN.120.002987. (IF (2019) 4,063)
- 2. **Clauss S.**, Sinner MF., Kääb S. Genome-Wide Association Studies Revealing the Heritability of Common Atrial Fibrillation: Is Bigger Always Better? Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2017 Dec;10(6). (**IF 5.664**)
- 3. Clauss S., Ellinor P. Does AF Follow Function? Ion Channel Mutations and Lone AF. CircArrhythmElectrophysiol. 2015 Oct;8(5):1005-6. (IF 4.428)
- 4. Clauss S., Kääb S., Is pitx2 growing up? Circ Cardiovasc Genet, 4(2):105-7, 2011.(IF 6.105)

Teaching activities

Winter semester 2016/2017	7M1293	Seminar
	7M1292	Bedside Teaching
	7M1294	Tutorial (Problem-based learning)
Summer semester 2017	7M1293	Seminar
	7M1294	Tutorial (Problem-based learning)
Winter semester 2017/2018	7M1293	Seminar
	7M1292	Bedside Teaching
Summer semester 2018	7M1292	Bedside Teaching
	7M1298	Techniques in Cardiology ("Kardiologische Funktion")
Winter semester 2018/2019	7M1293	Seminar
	7M1292	Bedside Teaching
	7M1298	Techniques in Cardiology ("Kardiologische Funktion")
Summer semester 2019	7M1293	Seminar
	7M1292	Bedside Teaching
	7M1298	Techniques in Cardiology ("Kardiologische Funktion")
Winter semester 2019/2020	7M1290	Lecture ECG
	7M1292	Bedside Teaching
	7M1298	Techniques in Cardiology ("Kardiologische Funktion")
Summer semester 2020	7M1294	Tutorial (Problem-based learning)

Appendix